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1.0 Background

The author was asked by SSE Power Distribution to carry out an archaeological evaluation, consisting of a desk-based assessment and rapid walk-over survey, of the proposed route of a new overhead 11kV power line between Laide and Opinan in Gairloch parish, Wester Ross. The object of the evaluation was to identify on the ground previously recorded archaeological sites or areas of archaeological interest and to locate previously unrecorded sites. This database of archaeological sites would enable the final design of the power line route and location of access routes, works compounds and laydown areas to avoid sites and archaeologically sensitive areas, or, where some degree of damage to archaeology proves unavoidable, would inform a programme of further archaeological work to record or investigate sites before work commences. Any further archaeological work would be initiated in consultation with the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council.
2.0 Archaeological Background

Although prehistoric settlement was widespread elsewhere in the parish of Gairloch, indicated by the large numbers of hut circles and duns and other defensive sites dating to the Bronze and Iron ages, very little has been recorded between Laide and Greenstone Point. This lack of evidence for early settlement may reflect the lack of systematic archaeological survey, or may indicate that, the ground being for the most part unfavourable to settlement, those areas of land suitable for cultivation have been continuously in use, and prehistoric remains lie under later, early modern and modern townships. The following prehistoric sites have been recorded in the vicinity of this area of evaluation:
· Mellon Udrigle, hut circle at NG 8914 9569, SMR no. NG89NE0001. This solitary hut circle is located on the shore line, an unusual location for  Iron Age settlements. Its location here probably represents some seasonal occupation connected with the sea and would suggest that other contemporary settlement would be located in the interior.
· Meallan Udrigill, wheelhouse at NG 894 929, SMR no. NG89SE0003. This was reported in the 1970s, but has not been recently investigated. Its given location is on high ground unaffected by the present development.
The following early modern and modern settlements are also recorded on the Highland SMR:

· Laide, crofting township, SMR no. NG89SE0017

· Achgarve, crofting township, SMR no. NG89SE0010

· Achgarve, depopulated township, SMR no. NG89SE0009

· Mellon Udrigle , crofting township, SMR no. NG89NE0005

· Opinan, crofting township, SMR no. NG89NE0004

There are two Listed Buildings in the vicinity of the proposed power line:

· Udrigle House, Listed ‘A’, SMR no. NG89SE0004

· 3, Mellon Udrigle, Listed ‘B’, SMR no. NG89NE0002

While not directly affected by the power line, the setting of these Listed Buildings may be adversely affected  by any new development in their vicinity.

3.0 Historical Background
The east side of the headland running north to Greenstone Point, consisting of the early modern settlements of Sand, Udrigle and Mellon, formed part of the estate of Gruinard, part of the extensive Seaforth lands until acquired by John Mackenzie in 1699. The family styled themselves ‘of Gruinard’ but resided at Udrigle and appear to have depended for their income on the raising of cattle and herring fishing. William Mackenzie, who built Udrigle House in 1745, was an active cattle drover and also traded in salmon, cod, ling and herring. His nephew, Roderick Morrison was tacksman at Mellon Udrigle, but also merchant and shipowner in Stornoway and, later, involved in establishing the fishing station on the Isle of Tanera. Like many small landowners in the 18th century, Mackenzie fell into debt, and in 1788 sold the lands of Udrigle, sand and Little Gruinard to Murdoch MacIver, minister of Lochalsh.
By 1795 the entire Gruinard estate appears to have been in the hands of Henry Davidson of Tulloch, whose interest was sheep farming. He is credited with the formation of crofts on the estate, which implies a degree of population displacement from areas considered suitable for profitable sheep farming. In 1835 Davidson sold the estate to Meyrick Bankes. Bankes cleared Little Gruinard and Badantsluig to form a sheep farm and decreased the number of crofters in Sand but also increased the number of crofts at First and Second Coast and encouraged crofters to drain their land and built piers to assist fishermen. Fortunately, the Laide-Opinan area was unsuitable for development as a sheep farm, and the crofters were not removed, rather, their numbers were probably augmented by families removed from elsewhere on the estate.
An investigation into demography and land use by JB Caird in 1981 indicates a steady decrease in population through the 20th century, and the majority of croft holdings abandoned or amalgamated. A greater variety of work opportunities appear to have reversed the population decline and, as well as a number of new houses, many of the more accessible 19th century croft houses have now been renovated.

4.0  Cartographic Evidence

Roy’s military survey, conducted in the 1750s, is the first series of maps to portray with reasonable accuracy the location of settlements and their corn lands and also gives a picture of settlement before the improvements and clearances of the early 1800s. Thomson’s Northern Part of Ross and Cromarty Shires, published in 1823, indicates the settlements as they were under the ownership of Davidson of Tulloch, but gives no detail of  land use. The Admiralty chart of 1849-51, concerned with showing features visible and therefore useful to mariners, shows clusters of buildings, major houses, boat ports and enclosures as they were after the improvements and clearances of Meyrick Bankes in 1835. The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map indicates the crofts and croft houses, with many buildings already abandoned, indicating a population peak before this date, and an expansion onto previously uncultivated ground. Some of the abandoned buildings are probably the initial clachan-type settlements of cleared families before the division of the township into croft units.
The following information on the individual townships is drawn from cartographic evidence:

4.1 Laide

Laide is not recorded on the Roy map, nor is there any cultivated ground shown north of the Sand Burn. This suggests that there was no settlement here until clearances by Davidson of Tulloch after 1795, or a second phase of clearance under the ownership of Meyrick Bankes in 1835. Thomson’s map of 1823 does not record Laide. The Admiralty chart of the 1840s shows buildings clustered around the road junction and, interestingly, notes ‘remains of large trees’ which must have been a feature visible from the sea, but gives the settlement no name. The 1st edition OS map shows the croft land enclosed and divided into holdings, with the majority of house and buildings at the top, or west end of the crofts. This distance from the road probably explains why these buildings have all been abandoned through the 20th century in favour of housing along the road. In 1981 there were 20 registered crofts.
4.2 Udrigle

The placename of Udrigle is recorded in 1638. When the lands of Gruinard, Udrigle and Sand were acquired from the Earl of Seaforth by the Mackenzies, henceforth ‘of Gruinard, they chose Udrigle for their home and in 1745 built the mansion house. Roy’s survey names Udrikill and indicates extensive cornlands on both sides of the Allt Udrigill Roy also shows three unnamed townships, two north of and one south of the river. Two of theses are probably Achgarve, but the third may have been a clachan north of the enclosed fields of Udrigle. Thomson’s map names Udrigill, and the Admiralty chart names Udrigill House and shows enclosed fields and a boat landing to the north and some small houses south of the river. The 1st edition OS map shows the enclosed fields undivided and buildings only around the mansion house, but by 1981 there were three registered crofts here.
4.3 Achgarve

There appear to have been two separate townships at Achgarve: the present settlement south of the Allt Udrigill and another to the north, both represented but unnamed on Roy’s map. The northern township is not shown on the 1st edition OS map, apart from what appears to be one square enclosure on unimproved ground, but eight buildings and three enclosures have been recorded here. It is unclear at what date this settlement was abandoned or cleared, but the presence of a sheep fank just to the north suggests that the ground may have been cleared for sheep. The present township of Achgarve is shown on the 1st edition OS map as irregular patches of unenclosed improved ground with scattered buildings. There were eight registered crofts here in 1981.
4.4 Mellon Udrigle

Roy’s survey names this township as Na Meallan and places it at the north side of the bay, with corn lands on both sides of the river. The township is not named on Thomson’s map, but Mellon on the Admiralty chart is recorded as a cluster of houses north of the bay and a smaller group of buildings to the west, approximately where Hannah’s croft is. The 1st edition OS map shows the low lying ground on both sides of the Feith Rabhain enclosed, with buildings clustered to the south. A number of abandoned ruins and dykes are noted to the south of the bay. This is technically North Udrigill, probably a late area of settlement on poor, steep ground although there were 2 registered crofts in 1981, when there were 10 crofts in Mellon Udrigle.
4.5 Opinan

This township is not recorded until the Admiralty chart of the 1840s and was probably established, on poor, wet and exposed ground, to accommodate families cleared in 1835. The Admiralty chart shows a cluster of buildings on the north bank of the Allt Loch a’Choire, at approximately NG 8790 9665. By the 1st edition OS map in the 1870s, these buildings are mostly abandoned, and croft buildings are scattered around the edges of the patches of improved ground. The course of the Allt Loch a’ Choire has been altered to run to the south of the largest cultivated area. At this date the road from Laide stops at the south end of the township. By 1981 there were only two registered crofts here, and a population of nine. Most of the ground brought into cultivation in the 19th century has now deteriorated to an unusable state.
5.0 Gazeteer of Archaeological Sites
The following sites were noted or investigated during the walk-over survey, which was carried out on 26.9.05 in deteriorating weather conditions.

5.1 Laide

1. Structure at NH 8962 9138. A roofed square structure is indicated at this location on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map. There is no trace of a structure here, and it is likely to have been removed at the time of the construction of the present track leading west

2. Structure at NH 8967 9154. A small, square, unroofed structure is recorded at this location on the 1st edition OS map. There is no trace of a structure here, and it is likely to have been removed at the time of the construction of the track which now runs along the back of the crofts.

3. Building at NH8971 9156. The rubble footings of a building are located immediately east of the township dyke. This is recorded on the 1st edition OS map as a roofless rectangular building aligned NNE-SSW, within the head dyke but on unimproved ground. It appears too small to have been a house and may have been the barn to site no. 4. (Photo no. 1)
4. Building at NH 8973 9169. The rubble footings of a building in the field east of site 3. This is recorded on the 1st edition OS map as a roofless structure with one internal partition, probably a croft house. (Photo no. 2)
5. Building and enclosure at NH 8979 9169. The ruinous remains of a building, obscured by the dumping of field clearance stones, boulders and other material, forming a conspicuous pile . This corresponds to a small building with a garden enclosure attached to the east recorded on the 1st edition OS map.  (Photo no. 3)
6. Wilderness Cottage, possible footings at NH 8992 9187. A modern house now overlies two small buildings recorded on the 1st edition OS map. In the field north of the house is a stone pile, possibly field clearance, and what may be the footings of a part of the more northern of the two 19th century buildings. (Photo no. 4)
7. Barn at NH 8998 9212. A substantial standing ruin of a barn. This building is not recorded on the 1st edition OS map, and therefore post-dates 1880. (Photo no. 5)
8. Ruin and field boundary at NH 8988 9233. The standing ruin of a croft house and barn, to the east of which is a line of boulders marking the west boundary of the cultivated ground as recorded on the 1st edition OS map. The boulders are from field clearance and it is unlikely the dyke was ever more substantial than this. (Photo no. 6)
9. Three standing ruins at NH 8989 9250. The ruins of two croft houses as recorded on the 1st edition OS map. Between them is a later house, occupied relatively recently, on the site of a small square building present in 1880. The more northern of the croft houses has an enclosure attached to the west, and the southern house is within an enclosed area, both extending beyond the original line of the township head dyke, probably to avoid building on good arable ground. (Photo no. 7)
5.2 Udrigle

10. Area of rig cultivation between NG 8952 9326 and NG 8956 9323. Faint traces of rigs running NNE down the slope, the number of rigs tapering to one above the present power line. (Cover photo)
11. Possible square structure at NG 8947 9326. On a slight heather-covered rise at the western edge of the area of rigs is what appears to be the rubble footings of a small square structure, possibly a shieling hut. (Photo no. 8)
12. Stone Pile at NG 8951 9328. A small pile of large and small stones at the western edge of the area of rig cultivation may be field clearance, or may be cleared stones on the side of the footings of a small structure similar to site no. 11 (Photo no. 9)
13. Area of Rigs at NG 8947 9329. This point is the top of a group of three rigs running NNE down the slope.
5.3 Achgarve

14. Area of Rigs at NG 8900 9373. The Allt Udrigill, as it passes between the two townships of Achgarve, has been artificially straightened. South of this are the in-bye fields of the present Achgarve township, and north of this, on the low lying ground and running part of the way up the hill, is a broad area of former rig cultivation, presumably partly associated with the depopulated township, site no. 17. and partly with the township of Udrigill.
15. Turf and rubble dyke at NG 8905 9376. The faint traces of a turf and rubble dyke marking the top end of the area of rigs. Although obscured by gorse, this feature probably runs along the contour to join site no. 16.
16. Head Dyke at NG 8897 9376. A substantial dyke of turf and rubble, recorded on the present OS Pathfinder map. This is a continuation of a dyke marking the north boundary of the arable land of Udrigill and presumably south of the road marked a boundary between Udrigill and Achgarve
17. Achgarve depopulated township at NG 887 939, SMR no. NG89SE0009. All the visible features of this township, corresponding to the recorded eight structures and three enclosures, are located on the slight ridge at the top of the rise from the Allt Udrigill and bounded to the north by a small watercourse draining the wet ground between the township and the road. The buildings are either under or to the SW of the existing power line (Photo no. 10)
18. Stone piles at NG 8891 9387 and 8890 9386. Two small stone piles which may be field clearance, or may represent the remains of footings of a structure obscured by gorse between the two piles (Photo no. 11)
Meall Feith Rabhain

19. Turf Dyke between NG 8855 9442 and NG 8859 9462. A turf and rubble boundary dyke runs NNE from the shore of Loch na Beiste. As it nears the road it has been removed by the recent insertion  of what may be a water main, and its route from this point could not be traced.
20. Turf Dyke at NG 8859 9473. A turf and stone dyke runs WNW up the slope of Meall Feith-rabhain. Its eastern end has been removed by the recent insertion of the water main.
21. Turf Dyke at NG 8860 9483. The present wire fence follows the approximate same line as an earlier turf and stone dyke running WNW past the north flank of Meall Feith-rabhain. The eastern end of this dyke has been removed by the recent insertion of a water main.

5.4 Mellon Udrigle

22. Group of buildings and enclosures, centred on NG 8877 9568. Occupying hill ground outwith the present township boundary is a group of buildings and enclosures which probably represent an early 19th century clachan pre-dating the formation of croft units. With the exception of nos. 5 and 7, these buildings are all recorded as roofed in 1881. The following numbering runs from east to west.
1. House and enclosure at NG8883 9564. The house, aligned NE-SW is truncated by the present track, and is recorded on the 1st edition OS map as only a small roofed structure, so this truncation may have occurred in the 19th century. Attached to the west is an L-shaped enclosure.
2. Building at NG 8881 9564. This building, recorded on the 1st edition OS map as attached to the south of the existing barn, is truncated by the existing track and fence line.
3. Borrow Pits at NG 8878 9567. Two borrow pits or quarries dug into the bank, the entrances partly rubble lined. The larger is partially infilled with boulders from modern field clearance. (Photo no. 12)
4. House and enclosure at NG 8877 9568 The substantial ruin of a house aligned NE-SW with a sub-rectangular drystone enclosure attached to the west.
5. Probable house at NG 8873  9570. The west corner of the enclosure of site no. 4 is the gable end of a house, with substantial corner stones and an infilled doorway. This would appear to be the west gable and the rest of the building would have lain within the later enclosure. (Photo no. 13)
6. House and enclosure at NG 8869 9572 at NG 8869 9572. Substantial footings of a house aligned NNE-SSW with a large square enclosure attached to the west (Photo no. 14)
7. House and enclosure at NG 8868 9577. The low grass-covered footings of a house aligned NE-SW. Se of this is a level grassy platform which is probably the remains of an associated enclosure. This is recorded on the 1st edition OS map as a small unroofed structure
23. Group of buildings at NG 8870 9583. A tight grouping of three houses aligned NW-SE and one, larger house aligned NE-SW, with the remains of associated enclosures to the north. This is located within the present croft lands, but probably represents a  clachan occupied before the land was organized into croft units.(Photo no. 15)
24. Group of buildings and enclosures, centred on NG 8907 9614. Immediately north of the present cluster of occupied buildings at Mellon Udrigle, on unenclosed ground are the following buildings which probably became redundant with the formation of croft holdings. All three buildings are recorded as roofed on the 1st edition OS map.
1. House and enclosure at NG 8905 9614. The substantial rubble walling of a roughly square enclosure include the walls of an attached house aligned ENE-WSW (Photo no. 16)
2. House at NG 8907 9614. Substantial ruin of a building aligned NE-SW (Photo no. 17) Approximately 4m NE of the building is a small circular setting of six stones  against a low boulder which may be contemporary. (Photo no. 18)

3. House at NG 8911 9612. The substantial ruin of a house aligned ENE-WSW

5.6 Opinan: Although ruinous structures are scattered around the township, none lie on the path of the proposed power line. No pre-crofting structures were noted.
6.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

All of the sites noted within or adjacent to the townships of Laide, Mellon Udrigle and Opinan date to the 19th century and represent either an early phase of settlement of new land after the clearance of families from coastal settlements to make way for sheep farming, or later croft houses, barns and byres established with the formation of croft holdings. The abandonment of these structures can be credited to, in the first case, a move from clachan-type clusters of dwellings to individual croft houses on holdings, and in the second case, to 20th century depopulation and the inconvenience of buildings placed at a distance from the public road.
The majority of sites listed above within these townships are substantial ruins, and can be easily avoided during work, with the exceptions of:
Sites 1 and 2. These were not located and are considered to no longer exist, so no mitigating action need be taken

Sites 3, 4. 6 and 22:7. These are low grass covered footings which might not be immediately recognizable and therefore could be damaged either by the direct insertion of a pole at these locations or by the borrowing of stone for the infilling of excavations, or by being on an access route and damaged by heavy plant.

The sites associated with Udrigle and the depopulated township of Achgarve, as well as the features east of Meall Feith Rabhain are likely to pre-date the early 19th century improvements and clearances and the establishment of new settlement areas and crofts. The areas of rig cultivation, sites 10, 13 and 14 cover fairly large areas and the insertion of poles within these areas would have a very minor impact on the archaeological record. The other features, consisting of early boundaries (sites 15, 16, 19, 20 and 21) and possible structures (sites 11, 12 and 18), are not prominent features and could be damaged by the present work.
It is recommended that the following sites are identified on the ground and clearly marked before work commences, to prevent accidental damage. Access routes should avoid them where possible, material should not be removed and poles should not be inserted into or immediately adjacent to these features:

Sites 3, 4, 6, 11, 12, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21 and 22:7.

The standing ruins should be respected as a part of the archaeological record and good work practice maintained to prevent accidental damage.
7.0 Data Sources

The following data sources were consulted during the desk-based evaluation:

· Highland Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit within the Highland Council in Inverness
· Maps held by the Map Library within the National library of Scotland in Edinburgh, particularly:

Roy’s Military Survey of Scotland

Thomson’s Northern Part of Ross and Cromarty Shires, 1823

Admiralty Chart 2509 Ru Ruag to Gruinard Bay, 1849-51

Ordnance Survey 1st edition, published 1881
 The following books provided background information to the evaluation 

· Baldwin JR ed. 1994: Peoples and Settlement in North West Ross

· Dixon JH, 1886: Gairloch and Guide to Loch Maree

· Watson, WJ, 1904: Place names of Ross and Cromarty
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Photographs

Cover photograph: Site no. 10, area of rig cultivation. In the background is Udrigle House, on the shore, with the enclosed fields of Udrigill township.

1. Site no. 3, footings of building, probably a byre, in the top corner of the field, view from NE.
2. Site no. 4, footings of former croft house, view From N.

3. Site no. 5. Ruins of building obscured by later dumping and field clearance, view from E.

4. Site no. 6. Possible rubble footings of small building immediately north of Wilderness Cottage. View from N.

5. Site no. 7, barn. View from SW.

6. Site no. 8. Croft house and barn, on the horizon. In the foreground, line of boulders marks field boundary. View from E.

7. Site no. 9. Two of three standing ruins. The near building is more recent than the other two. View from SE.

8. Site no. 11, possible square structure, shieling hut? View from S.

9. Site no. 12. Stone pile, possible structure, view from W.

10. Site no. 17, Achgarve depopulated township. Structures are visible on rising ground beyond the existing power line. View from NE.

11. Site no. 18, stone pile, view from SW.

12. Site no. 22:3, borrow pit, view from SW.

13. Site no. 22:5. Detail of enclosure of site no. 22:4 showing gable end of former house with infilled doorway. View from NW.

14. Site no. 22:6, house and square enclosure, visible centre left of picture. In the right foreground is site 22.4. A green grassy patch left of the rubble dyke in the distance indicates site 22:7.
15. Site no. 23, group of buildings. In the foreground, orange peg indicates power line route. View from S.

16. Site no. 24:1. Enclosure with incorporated house ruin. View from NE.

17. Site no. 24:2. Building, view from N.

18. Site no. 24:2. Small stone setting NE of building. View from SW.
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